
  CITY OF LANSING 
  Council Chambers 
  800 1st Terrace 

  Lansing, KS 66043 

COUNCIL AGENDA 
Regular Meeting 

       Thursday, February 4, 2021 
7:00 P.M. 

WELCOME TO YOUR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Regular meetings are held on the first and third Thursday of each month at 7 pm and are televised on Cable Television Channel 2 on Monday 7 pm, Tuesday 10 am & 7 pm, Friday 
5 pm, Saturday 1 pm and Sunday 7 pm.   

Any person wishing to address the City Council, simply proceed to the microphone in front of the dais after the agenda item has been introduced and wait to be recognized by the 
Mayor. When called upon, please begin by stating your name and address. A time designated “Audience Participation” is listed on the agenda for any matter that does not appear 
on this agenda. The Mayor will call for audience participation. Please be aware that the city council and staff may not have had advance notice of your topic and that the city council 
may not be able to provide a decision at the meeting. If you require any special assistance, please notify the City Clerk prior to the meeting. 

 
• In order to adhere to social distancing and limiting large gatherings of people to mitigate the spread of 

COVID-19, the Lansing City Meeting will not be open to the public.  In accordance with Kansas Open 
Meetings Act (KOMA), the meeting can be viewed live via YouTube at www.lansingks.org/live and will 
be available for viewing on Spectrum Cable Channel 2 the following day. 

• Want to comment during Audience Participation? 
o Submit your comment to Cityclerk@lansingks.org no later than 6:00 p.m. on February 3rd. 

• Questions on agenda items will be read during discussion on that topic. 
o Submit your question to Cityclerk@lansingks.org no later than 6:00 pm on February 3rd. 

 

Call To Order       
Pledge of Allegiance 
Roll Call 

OLD BUSINESS: 
1. Approval of Minutes 

NEW BUSINESS: 
Audience Participation 

  Presentations 
Council Consideration of Agenda Items: 

2. Ordinance No. 1054 – Rezone Request 00000 Centre Drive 
3. Final Plat - Saddle Ridge 
4. Final Plat - Ryan Family Farms  
5. Final Plat - Fawn Valley South, 2nd Plat  
6. 2021 Independence Days Event 
7. 2021 Bernard BBQ Battle Event 
8. Approval of Quote - Belt Filter Press Rehabilitation Project 

Reports: 
 City Attorney, City Administrator, Department Heads, Councilmembers 
Proclamations 
Other Items of Interest 
Adjournment 















AGENDA ITEM 
TO: Tim Vandall, City Administrator 

FROM: Matthew R. Schmitz, Director, Community & Economic Development 

DATE: February 4, 2021 

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 1054: An Ordinance to rezone 00000 Centre Drive from PUD Planned 

Unit Development to B-3 Regional Business District 

       AGENDA ITEM # 

Explanation: City of Lansing, owner of property at 00000 Centre Drive, has applied to rezone 
the subject property from PUD Planned Unit Development to B-3 Regional Business District. 
This rezoning, if approved, will allow the City to develop the property slowly over time, rather 
than as a large Planned Unit Development. In the event that future development is sought, site 
plans would need to be submitted and approved for each development, as well as plats for any 
revisions in property lines on the subject property. Additionally, staff has begun the process of 
working with Gould Evans who assisted with the Unified Development Ordinance on an overall 
“plan” for the property to ensure consistency as the entire area is developed. The committee of 
Council Members overseeing this project has made it clear to Staff that they want consistent 
development in the area, and that they want the developments to work together to provide a 
uniform aesthetic look and feel to the entire property. While the intent of a PUD district is to 
perform what is outlined above, Staff believes that B-3 will make the property more marketable, 
and easier to develop in the long term. 

Please refer to the attached checklist and staff report for detailed analysis of the application. 

There have been a few residents who border the subject property who had called and asked 
about future plans for the property before the Planning Commission meeting was held. While 
the City does not have specific plans at this time, the feedback received from residents about 
this property prior to the Planning Commission meeting was neutral or positive. One property 
owner along Kay Street contacted the Director and asked about future development of the 
property and if the hillside along Kay Street would be cut down. While we do not have specific 
plans, it was explained to the property owner that the removal of that hillside would be quite 
expensive, and likely would not occur when a development occurs on the property. Additionally, 
screening requirements would be followed along the north side since this is a transition area 
from Commercial to Residential. 

At the Planning Commission meeting, there were four residents who spoke during the Public 
Hearing. Those comments and discussion have been included in the meeting minutes excerpt 
attached to this item. 

The Planning Commission, at its January 20, 2021 meeting, recommended approval of this 
rezoning application with a 4-0-1 vote with Chairman Ron Barry abstaining. The minutes excerpt 
from that meeting, the rezoning checklist, and the staff report (including a map of the property) 
are included for your review. 

Policy Considerations: None. 

Action: Approve, approve with conditions, remand back to Planning Commission, or deny with a 
super majority vote of the governing body Ordinance No. 1054: An Ordinance to rezone 00000 
Centre Drive from PUD Planned Unit Development to B-3 Regional Business District. 

2



ORDINANCE NO. 1054 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A CHANGE OF ZONING  
TO CERTAIN PROPERTY WITHIN THE CITY OF LANSING, KANSAS. 

  
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Lansing has recommended to rezone particular real estate 

property within the City of Lansing, Kansas; and  
 

WHEREAS, after proper legal publication and notice pursuant to the statutes of the State of Kansas, a public hearing 
was held on January 20, 2020, at 7:00 p.m. at the Lansing City Hall, Lansing, Kansas; and 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF LANSING, KANSAS:  
 

Section 1. Change of Land Uses. The land uses for the following property currently addressed as 00000 Centre Drive 
within the city limits of the City of Lansing, County of Leavenworth, State of Kansas, legally described as follows: 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  
 
A tract of land in the Northeaset Quarter (NE ¼) of Section 25, Township 9 South, Range 22 East and Southeast 
Quarter (SE ¼) of Section 24, Township 9 South, Range 22 East of the 6th Principal Meridian, City of Lansing, 
Leavenworth County, Kansas, being more particularly described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the Northeast corner of said Section 25; thence South 89°36'17" West along the North line of the 
Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4) of said Section 25, a distance of 108.80 feet to the intersection of the West Right of Way 
of US Highway 73 (Kansas Highway 7), as Recorded in Book 469 at Page 600 in the Office of the Register of Deeds 
of Leavenworth County Kansas with said North line; thence South 01°05'31" West along said Westerly Right of Way 
a distance of 33.05 feet to the Northeast corner of Lot 1, First National Bank of Lansing, City of Lansing, 
Leavenworth County, Kansas; thence North 89°18'44" West along the North line of said Lot 1 a distance of 3.70 feet 
to a Point of Curvature; thence along a curve to the left and continuing along the North line of said Lot 1, said curve 
having a Radius of 554.55 feet and an Arc Length of 222.96 feet to a Point of Tangency; thence South 67°39'06" West 
continuing along the North line of said Lot 1, a distance of 110.49 feet to a Point of Curvature; thence along a curve 
to the right and continuing along the North line of said Lot 1, said curve having a Radius of 757.78 feet and an Arc 
Length of 25.34 feet to the Northwest Corner of said Lot 1; thence South 73°59'25" West a distance of 84.03 feet to 
the West Right of Way of Center Drive as described in the Quitclaim Deed Recorded in Book 854 at Page 741 in the 
Office of Register of Deeds of Leavenworth County Kansas and to the Point of Beginning; thence South 16°37'15" 
East along said West Right of Way a distance of 66.86 feet to a Point of Curvature; thence along a curve to the left 
and continuing along said West Right of Way, said curve having a Radius of 335.00 feet and an Arc Length of 164.15 
feet to a Point of Tangency; thence South 44°41'45" East continuing along said, West Right of Way a distance of 
103.59 feet to a Point of Curvature; thence along a curve to the right and continuing along said West Right of Way, 
said curve having a Radius of 465.00 feet and an Arc Length of 351.49 feet to a Point of Tangency; thence South 
01°23'13" East continuing along said West Right of Way a distance of 250.63 feet to a Point of Curvature; thence 
along a curve to the right and continuing along said West Right of Way, said curve having a Radius of 1965.00 feet 
and an Arc Length of 86.21 feet to a Point of Tangency; thence South 01°07'37" West continuing along said West 
Right of Way a distance of 551.91 feet to a Point of Curvature; thence along a curve to the right and continuing along 
said West Right of Way, said curve having a Radius of 465.00 feet  and an Arc Length of 121.26 feet to a Point of 
Tangency; thence South 16°04'04" West continuing along said West Right of Way a distance of 130.61 feet to a Point 
of Curvature; thence along a curve to the right and continuing along said West Right of Way, said curve having a 
Radius of 465.00 feet and an Arc Length of 339.56 feet to a Point of Reverse Curvature; thence along a curve to the 
left and continuing along said West Right of Way, said curve having a Radius of 535.00 feet and an Arc Length of 
166.97 feet; thence North 88°43'14" West along said West Right of Way of a distance of 235.05 feet to the East Line 
of Stonecrest Subdivision, City of Lansing, Leavenworth County, Kansas; thence North 01°16'46" East along the East 
line of said Stonecrest Subdivision, the extension thereof and the East line of Lansing Heights Addition, City of 
Lansing, Leavenworth County, Kansas a distance of 2142.54 feet to the North Right of Way of Mary Street and a 
non-tangent curve; thence along a non-tangent curve to right continuing along said North Right of Way, having an 
initial bearing of North 83°30'22" West, said curve having a Radius of 691.78 feet and an Arc Length of 444.19 feet; 
thence North 37°16'24" West continuing along said North Right of Way a distance of 245.67 feet; thence North 
31°54'11" West continuing along said North Right of Way a distance of 128.71 feet to a Point of Curvature; thence 
along a curve to the left and continuing along said North Right of Way, said curve having a Radius of 686.17 feet and 



an Arc Length of 165.46 feet; thence North 01°07'47" East a distance of 117.30 feet to the South Right of Way for 
West Kay Street; thence North 69°47'51" East along said South Right of Way a distance of 59.31 feet; thence North 
14°03'07" West continuing along said South Right of Way a distance of 15.56 feet; thence North 89°37'36" East 
continuing along said South Right of Way a distance of 1409.77 feet to the West Right of Way of US Highway 73 
(Kansas Highway 7); thence South 00°59'42" West along said West Right of Way a distance of 298.42 feet; thence 
South 09°41'34" West continuing along said West Right of Way a distance of 32.60 feet; thence South 17 degrees 
37’22” West a distance of 13.22 feet; thence North 87 degrees 25’02” West a distance of 227.73 feet along the South 
line of Lot 2, Lansing Towne Centre 2nd Plat; thence on a curve to the right having a radius of 91.68 feet and an arc 
length of 38.33 feet along South line of said Lot 2; thence North 68 degrees 34’52” West a distance of 65.00 feet to 
the East line of Lot 1 of Lansing Towne Centre; thence on a non-tangent curve to the right having a radius of 369.00 
feet and an arc length of 45.15 feet, being subtended by a chord bearing of South 24 degrees 55’28” West and a chord 
distance of 45.13 feet, along the East line of said Lot 1; thence South 28 degrees 25’48” West a distance of 112.17 feet 
along East line of said Lot 1; thence on a curve to the right having a radius of 189.50 feet and an arc length of 44.28 
feet along East line of said Lot 1; thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 210.50 feet and an arc length of 
69.95 feet along East line of said Lot 1; thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 443.00 feet and an arc length 
of 226.69 feet along East line of said Lot 1; thence South 16°37'15" East a distance of 72.00 feet to the Point of 
Beginning, Containing 43.05 acres, more or less. Said Legal Description includes Road Rights of Way. 
 
EXCEPT AND SUBJECT TO: Easements, restrictions and assessments of record, and all the taxes and assessments 
that may be levied, imposed or become payable hereafter. 
 
All in Leavenworth County, Kansas, 
 

less any part taken or used for road; presently zoned as “PUD” Planned Unit Development is hereby changed to “B-3” 
Regional Business District; and  
 

Section 2. Amend Zoning District Map. That upon the taking effect of this ordinance, the above zoning change shall 
be entered and shown on the Zoning District Map, and said official zoning map shall be and is hereby reincorporated as a part 
of the Zoning Ordinance as amended.  
 

Section 3. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect and be enforced from and after its passage, approval, and 
publication in the official city newspaper, as provided by law.  
 
PASSED AND APPROVED by the governing body of the City of Lansing, Kansas, this 4th day of February, 2020. 

 
 
____________________________________ 
Anthony R. McNeill, Mayor 

ATTEST 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Sarah Bodensteiner, City Clerk 
 
(SEAL) 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________________ 
Gregory C. Robinson, City Attorney 
 
Publication Date: _______________ 
 
Published:   The Leavenworth Times    
 
 
 

 



 
CITY OF LANSING 

FORM OF SUMMARY FOR PUBLICATION OF ORDINANCE 
 

Ordinance No. 1054:  An Ordinance Granting a Change of Zoning to Certain Property Within the City of Lansing, 
Kansas. 

 
Pursuant to the general laws of the State, a general summary of the subject matter contained in this ordinance shall be 
published in the official City newspaper in substantially the following form: 
 

Ordinance No. 1054 Summary: 
On February 4, 2021, the City of Lansing, Kansas, adopted Ordinance No. 1054, an ordinance granting a 
change of zoning to certain property within the City of Lansing, Kansas.  A complete copy of this ordinance 
is available at www.lansingks.org or at City Hall, 800 First Terrace, Lansing, KS 66043.  This summary 
certified by Gregory C. Robinson, City Attorney. 

 
This Summary is hereby certified to be legally accurate and sufficient pursuant to the laws of the State of Kansas. 
 
DATED: February 4, 2021 
 
 
 
      
Gregory C. Robinson, City Attorney 
 
 



Page 1 of 2 

 

Planning Commission Staff Report 
January 20, 2021 
 
Rezone Case RZ-2021-1 
00000 Centre Drive 
 

 
 
Project Facts 
 

Applicant 
Lansing City 
 
Address 
00000 Centre Drive 
 
Property ID 
052-106-24-0-40-07-001.01 
052-106-24-0-40-08-001.03-0 
052-107-25-0-10-02-001.13-0 
052-107-25-0-10-02-001.14 
052-107-25-0-10-02-001.15 
052-107-25-0-10-02-001.16-0 
052-107-25-0-10-02-001.17-0 
052-107-25-0-10-02-001.18-0 
 
Zoning 
PUD Planned Unit Development 
 
Future Land Use 
Commercial 
 
Land 
1,790,868.55 SF (41.11 acres) 
 
Requested Approvals 
Rezoning 

 
 

 
Summary 
City of Lansing, owner of property at 00000 Centre Drive, has applied to rezone the subject property from PUD Planned 
Unit Development to B-3 Regional Business District. This rezoning, if approved, will allow the City to develop the 
property slowly over time, rather than as a large Planned Unit Development. In the event that future development is 
sought, site plans would need to be submitted and approved for each development, as well as plats for any revisions in 
property lines on the subject property. Additionally, staff has begun the process of working with Gould Evans who 
assisted with the Unified Development Ordinance on an overall “plan” for the property to ensure consistency as the 
entire area is developed. The committee of Council Members overseeing this project has made it clear to Staff that they 
want consistent development in the area, and that they want the developments to work together to provide a uniform 
aesthetic look and feel to the entire property. While the intent of a PUD district is to perform what is outlined above, 
Staff believes that B-3 will make the property more marketable, and easier to develop in the long term. 
 
A public hearing notice was published in the Leavenworth Times on December 29, 2020, and the notice was mailed to 
property owners within 200 feet of the subject property on December 28, 2020. 
 

  



Rezone Case RZ-2021-1 – 00000 Centre Drive 
City of Lansing, Kansas  

Planning Commission 1/20/2021 
 

Page 2 of 2 

Discussion points from Checklist 
 
The checklist was reviewed and completed by the Director of Community & Economic Development. There are no 
concerns marked as outstanding, and the application is in order. 
 

Complaints / Questions 
 
There have been a few residents who border the subject property who have called and asked about future plans for the 
property. While the City does not have specific plans at this time, the feedback received from residents about this property 
was neutral or positive. One property owner along Kay Street contacted the Director and asked about future development 
of the property and if the hillside along Kay Street would be cut down. While we do not have specific plans, it was explained 
to the property owner that the removal of that hillside would be quite expensive, and likely would not occur when a 
development occurs on the property. Additionally, screening requirements would be followed along the north side, since 
this is a transition area from Commercial to Residential. 
 

Acknowledgments 
 
The following City of Lansing staff members reviewed this project and provided information for this report: 
 

• Matthew R. Schmitz, M.P.A. – Director, Community & Economic Development 
 

Notice of City Codes 
 
The Applicant is subject to all applicable City codes within the Municipal Code – whether specifically stated in this report 
or not – including, but not limited to, Zoning, Buildings and Construction, Subdivisions, and Sign Code. The Applicant is 
also subject to all applicable Federal, State, and local laws. 
 

Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend approval of this rezoning request to the City Council. 
 



REZONING CHECKLIST 
 
     Checklist Completed by:  Matthew R. Schmitz 
     Case No. RZ-2021-1 
     Date Filed:  December 21, 2020 
     Date Advertised:  December 29, 2020 
     Date Notices Sent:  December 28, 2020 
     Public Hearing Date:  January 20, 2021 
 
APPLICANT:  Lansing City 
 
LOCATION OF PROPERTY:  00000 Center Dr. 
 
PRESENT ZONING:  PUD  REQUESTED ZONING:  B-3 
 
PRESENT USE OF PROPERTY:  Undeveloped empty ground 
 
SURROUNDING LAND USE AND ZONING: 
 
 Direction   Land Use   Zoning 
 

North Mixed Density and Multi-
Family Residential 

R-3, R-4 

South Agricultural and Regional 
Business District 

A-1, B-3 

East Business districts and 
Residential District 

B-1, B-2, B-3, R-1 

West Multi-Family, Regional 
Business District and Single 
Family 

R-4, B-3, R-1 

 
CHARACTER OF THE NEIGHBORHOOD:  The area is well developed on all sides, 
with some multi family homes (duplexes) constructed to the northwest of the area, single 
family to the north and northeast, busineses at W. Mary and Main, single family to the 
east, businesses to the southeast, businessses and a single family home to the south, 
and a single family subdivision and multi-family apartments to the west.. 
 
NEAREST EQUIVALENT ZONING: 

LOCATION:  Intersection of Center Drive and W. Mary Street 
CURRENT USE:  Bank and office space 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO EXISTING ZONING PATTERN: 
 

1.  Would proposed change create a small, isolated district unrelated to 
surrounding districts?  No 
 
2.  Are there substantial reasons why the property cannot be used in 
accord with existing zoning?  Yes  If yes, explain:  Staff believes that the 
designation of PUD on the property could be viewed as a hinderance by potential 
developers looking to buy ground in Town Center. When one developer buys a 
project and develops the entire project at once, as a PUD, then they work well. In 
this situation, because the City now owns it, we will most likely develop the 
property in pieces, rather than one large development. Staff believes that the 



current designation of PUD could hinder the individual developments that could 
occur under a B-3 designation. 
 
3.  Are there adequate sites for the proposed use in areas already properly 
zoned?  Not in close proximity to this area  If yes, where?        
 

CONFORMANCE WITH COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 
 

1.  Consistent with Development Policies?  The Comprehensive Plan shows 
the area north of W. Mary as Commercial, with the area to the south being shown 
as Mixed Use, so this request is partially consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan. 
 
2.  Consistent with Future Land Use Map?  Partially. The future land use map 
shows the area north of W. Mary as commercial, and the area to the south as 
Mixed Use. 
 
3.  Are Public Facilities adequate?  Yes. All utilities are present and in the 
area. 
 

TRAFFIC CONDITIONS: 
 

1.  Street(s) with Access to Property:  Main Street (K-7 Hwy), W. Mary Street, 
Center Drive, W. Kay Street, 4-H Road 
2.  Classification of Street(s): 

  Arterial X Collector X Local X 
 

3.  Right of Way Width:  ROW Widths for surrounding roads meet the guidelines 
established in the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
4.  Will turning movements caused by the proposed use create an undue 
traffic hazard?  No. The road network was designed for the type of use 
considered here when the project was originally constructed. 
 
5.  Comments on Traffic:  Traffic in the area may be slightly increased due to 
increased trips to access the new use of the property, but there are no concerns 
about traffic because of this request. 
 

SHOULD PLATTING OR REPLATTING BE REQUIRED TO PROVIDE FOR: 
 

1.  Appropriately Sized Lots?  The current lot sizes are adequate but may need 
to shift in order to accommodate future developments. Should that occur, Staff 
would return with plats as required, if they do not meet the guidelines for 
Administrative Plats, etc. 
 
2.  Properly Sized Street Right of Way?  The existing Street Right of Way is 
propertly sized, and does not require any additions or modifications, subject to 
review of a site plan for any future development 
 
3.  Drainage Easements?  Drainage easments would need to be considered as 
development occurs on the property. This would be reviewed and considered 
during the site planning process for any potential development on the property, 
and if a Plat is required, drainage easements would be considered at that time. 
 



4.  Utility Easements: 
Electricity?  Easements are in the area for the existing electric utilities. 
Future utilities needed would need to be located in easements as 
appropriate for development. 
Gas?  Easements are in the area for the existing gas utilities. Future 
utilities needed would need to be located in easements as appropriate for 
development. 
Sewers?  Easements are in the area for the existing sewer utilities. 
Future utilities needed would need to be located in easements as 
appropriate for development. 
Water?  Easements are in the area for the existing water utilities. Future 
utilities needed would need to be located in easements as appropriate for 
development. 

 
5.  Additional Comments:  N/A 
 

UNIQUE CHARACTERISTICS OF PROPERTY IN QUESTION:  None 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The City Council has directed staff to review developments 
in this area on an overall basis. While that was the intent of the PUD, Staff believes that 
this can be achieved without the specific PUD designation by developing an overall plan 
for the property and project with Gould Evans. That process is already underway. 
Additionally, there are members of the City Council who are participating in a Town 
Center Committee to review potential developments and provide guidance to staff as 
projects come in. 
 



Lansing Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting 
January 20th, 2021 
 

Page 1 of 5 

Call to Order - The regular monthly meeting of the Lansing Planning Commission was called to 
order by Vice-Chairman Jake Kowalewski at 7:00 p.m.  Also in attendance were Chairman 
Nancy McDougal and Amy Baker. Chairman Ron Barry joined after the meeting began via 
ZOOM, and Commissioner Jerry Gies joined via ZOOM before the meeting began. Vice-Chairman 
Jake Kowalewski noted there was a quorum present. 
 
Approval of Minutes – December 16th, 2020, Regular Meeting – Commissioner Nancy 
McDougal made a motion to approve the minutes of the December 16th, 2020, meeting, 
seconded by Commissioner Amy Baker. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Old Business: - None 
 
New Business:   
 

1. Rezoning Application Case # RZ-2021-1: 00000 Centre Drive, Lansing, Kansas 
Application submitted by City of Lansing, property owner. This application is to rezone the 
subject parcels from PUD Planned Unit Development to B-3 Regional Business District.  
 
Vice-Chairman Jake Kowalewski opened the public hearing at 7:03 p.m. 
 
Dennis and Pat Charest, residents who live at 1 Pulley Hill, Lansing, KS asked what kind of 
businesses are expected to come under the potential B-3 rezoning.  Vice-Chairman Kowalewski 
stated the type of businesses are unknown at this time, this is an administrative action 
establishing what businesses can come in, and he asked Community and Economic 
Development Director Matthew Schmitz for further clarification. Mr. Schmitz answered that B-3 
districts allow a variety of businesses that range from big box stores to fast food restaurants. 
Mr. Schmitz further stated that there is a business development agreement in place for the 
entire 41-acre property as well as an adjacent property owner (Tom Dobski, proprietor of 
Leavenworth’s McDonalds) for the NW quadrant located at K-7 & West Mary. Within this 
agreement, there are businesses that would be direct competitors of Mr. Dobski (and 
McDonalds), that would not be allowed. 
 
Mr. Charest then asked if the City still planned to terrace the hill? Mr. Schmitz answered that “it 
would depend on what type of site plan was submitted (site plans/engineering plans are 
required to be submitted to the Planning Commission according to the guidelines set forth in 
the UDO that was adopted in 2019) and what type of development would take place. Regarding 
your concern, the west side of the property between West Mary and 4-H is steep, so there will 
have to be a design plan to terrace or install a wall to make that work.”  
 
Mr. Charest stated that he and his wife have lived in their home for roughly 28 years, own quite 
a bit of surrounding land, and are concerned primarily with safety and privacy.  Mrs. Charest 
asked if there is a restriction on the size of building being built and Mr. Schmitz said he believes 
it’s 3 stories based on fire code and Commissioner Jerry Gies confirmed 3 stories and/or 45’ 
based off the ordinance he was reading from.  
 
Mr. Charest asked if any offers have been put on the table at this point and Mr. Schmitz 
answered “no, not at this time.” Mr. Charest then asked for clarification on the 8 parcels that 



Lansing Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting 
January 20th, 2021 
 

Page 2 of 5 

are open and whether that means 8 businesses could potentially move in. Mr. Schmitz stated it 
really depends on what is submitted and whether property lines would need to be adjusted to 
make development plans work. Mrs. Charest asked if notifications would be sent out to 
surrounding home/landowners when a new development is being considered and Mr. Schmitz 
stated that they would receive the same type of notice in the mail that they received for this 
rezone.  
 
Mary Ryan, lifelong resident who lives at 128 West Kansas St, Lansing, KS said that she has 
been impacted by the development of Centre Drive and has been happy for the last 10 years 
since nothing has been built. Ms. Ryan stated initially she was concerned with drainage issues 
when homes were torn down and land was graded, that she was told would not be an issue but 
then became an issue and flooded homes on West Kay Street. The problem was fixed, but feels 
it was a temporary fix and if something were to be built and cement poured, it would create 
drainage issues again. Ms. Ryan is now concerned about the additional amount of traffic that 
might develop on Centre Drive, as it is currently a frequented road. Ms. Ryan asked that the 
future is taken into consideration when the Planning Commission begins reviewing business 
applications, as she feels potential issues were overlooked in the past that impacted nearby 
residents. Ms. Ryan asked if the term mixed use dwellings, which is listed under B-3 zoning, 
would be considered apartments and she is afraid if so, this would cause dense population in a 
small area. Vice-Chairman Kowalewski reassured her that the City as property owners will make 
advantageous decisions that benefit the City and mixed dwellings is probably not at the top of 
the list. Ms. Ryan asked how the City obtained the property as she thought it was privately 
owned and Vice-Chairman Kowalewski answered that the City purchased the property (unsure 
of why the seller sold it) for a financially great deal and were able to capitalize on the market. 
Ms. Ryan also noted that the space could be used for public open spaces, which is currently 
being done by dog walkers and such, and she feels the City should keep that in mind as well. 
Ms. Ryan said Lansing has a need for accessible open public spaces and/or parks and would like 
to see Lansing utilize this space for something of that nature.  
 
Ms. Ryan questioned the next step of this rezoning process after tonight’s meeting regarding 
plats and site plans and if approval needs to come from City Council. Mr. Schmitz answered that 
rezoning actions move on to City Council approval. He went on to further say that site plans are 
approved by the Planning Commission and do not need approval from the Council. Both 
processes still require public notification. There is a 14-day protest period that citizens can 
address their concerns with the City Council and the City Council can decide whether to approve 
the rezone request.  
 
Ms. Ryan then asked for clarification regarding why the City wants to rezone from a PUD to a B-
3 and what the advantage would be. Vice-Chairman Kowalewski answered it is to benefit the 
economy and widen the scale for what type of businesses would be developed. Mr. Schmitz 
added that it makes the property more marketable to developers. Ms. Ryan asked for a direct 
answer on whether apartment complexes would be developed, and Mr. Schmitz answered it is 
possible but highly improbable that the City would choose that avenue.  
 
Mrs. Charest asked if any additional side streets would be added. Vice-Chairman Kowalewski 
answered that tonight’s topic is the rezoning of the property and until something is developed, 
there is no answer on what if any, additional accessibility would be needed.  



Lansing Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting 
January 20th, 2021 
 

Page 3 of 5 

 
Craig Gephart, resident at 310 W. Olive St., Lansing, KS stated he would caution the 
Commission using the term improbable regarding apartments, because he has seen in the past 
where the City used that term regarding HUD housing and within 2 weeks of a developer going 
to the State, HUD housing is now Lansing Heights near him. Mr. Gephart said unfortunately 
there was no push back from the Council, after the public was told this would not be done. Mr. 
Gephart said he would like to see a development for this area that not only benefits the City, 
but Lansing residents as well. Mr. Gephart said he supports the idea of retail, but not of 
apartments/condominiums that can create a new set of problems from a high concentration of 
people living in one area. Mr. Gephart would like to see fencing and/or protection provided to 
the current residents in the area. Also, he would like to see erosion/drainage potentials 
addressed, lighting issues addressed, noise etc. Mr. Gephart would also like to see vegetation in 
the area to help beautify the City and Vice-Chairman stated this has been addressed in the 
ordinance to ensure the appropriate trees and vegetation are planted that are beneficial to the 
City. Mr. Gephart ended with a plea to the Commission to put the current residents in the area 
at the forefront of the decision-making process to ensure whatever is developed is mutually 
beneficial and not detrimental to the residents.  
 
Vice-Chairman Kowalewski closed the public hearing at 7:25 p.m.  
 
Vice-Chairman Kowalewski asked for a motion to approve the checklist as a finding of fact for 
the Rezoning application for 00000 Centre Drive, Lansing, Kansas. Commissioner Nancy 
McDougal made the motion seconded by Chairman Ron Barry. The motion passes 5-0.  
 
Vice-Chairman Kowalewski asked for a motion to recommend approval, approve with 
conditions, or recommend disapproval to the Governing Body the Rezoning Application for City 
of Lansing, KS. Commissioner Jerry Gies made the motion seconded by Commissioner Nancy 
McDougal. The motion passes with 4-0-1 with Chairman Ron Barry abstaining.  
 

2. Final Plat Application Case # SDFP-2021-1: 1022 E. Mary St, Lansing, Kansas 
Application submitted by Mark Linaweaver Trust, property owner. This application is for a final 
plat consisting of 3 lots and approximately 98.67 acres. The property is currently zoned R-2 
Single-Unit Residential District.  
 
Commissioner Nancy McDougal made a motion to approve the checklist as a finding of fact 
seconded by Commissioner Gies recommending approval subject to conditions as outlined in the 
staff report. The motion passes 5-0.  
 

3. Final Plat Application Case # SDFP-2021-2: 811 4-H Road, Lansing, Kansas 
Application submitted by Lyle and Mary Chadwell Trust, property owners. This application is for 
a final plat consisting of 4 lots and approximately 154.6 acres. The property is currently zoned 
A-1 Agricultural District.  
 
Mr. Schmitz asked for clarification from the Commission on the staff report comment regarding 
access along Gilman Rd for Lots 3 and 4. Harland Russell, with George Butler Associates (GBA), 
9801 Renner Boulevard, Ste. 300, Lenexa, KS 66219, introduced himself as the plat preparer 
and said he asked the question to the staff earlier today and was told the restriction was on the 



AGENDA ITEM 
TO: Tim Vandall, City Administrator 

FROM: Matthew R. Schmitz, Director, Community & Economic Development 

DATE: February 4, 2021 

SUBJECT: Final Plat – Saddle Ridge 

       AGENDA ITEM # 

Explanation: Mark Linaweaver, owner of 1022 E Mary Street, has applied for approval of a final 
plat for Saddle Ridge. This final plat, if approved, will allow the property owner to subdivide 
approximately 98.3 acres into three lots. Lot 1 would make up the majority of the existing 
property at approximately 87 acres. Lot 2 and 3 would be subdivided to each make up 
approximately 5 acres. The current zoning for the site is R-2 Single-Unit Residential District. 
As the Planning Commission may remember, this property was planned to be subdivided into 
roughly 149 lots but has since been revised to the submitted configuration.  

The final plat has been updated to reflect the conditions listed in the Staff Report and now 
meets the requirements of the checklist, with the exception of final signatures for each required 
signatory. Those signatures will be obtained before the plat can be filed with Leavenworth 
County Register of Deeds. 

The revised final plat, the checklist, and minutes excerpt from the January 20th Planning 
Commission meeting are attached for review. 

The Planning Commission voted to recommend approval of this final plat application with a 5-0 
vote. 

Action: Staff recommends a motion to approve the final plat for Saddle Ridge. 

3



N88°38'04"E
116.08'

N
01

°2
4'

30
"W

  4
59

.2
2'

S0
1°

17
'0

6"
E 

 2
,5

96
.4

4'

S88°03'01"W  2646.76'

N
01

°4
8'

00
"W

   
98

8.
92

'

N88°04'08"E  1328.82'

N
01

°4
1'

19
"W

   
 3

40
.3

4'

N
01

°1
0'

16
"W

   
82

0.
57

'

N88°04'43"E  325.09'

FOUND 2.5" ALUM DISK IN MONUMENT BOX
NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER

OF SECTION 30-09-23
POINT OF COMMENCEMENT

SITE BENCHMARK - TOP OF MONUMENT BOX - 849.27'

E
A

S
T 

LI
N

E
 O

F 
TH

E
 N

O
R

TH
E

A
S

T 
Q

U
A

R
TE

R
 O

F 
S

E
C

TI
O

N
 3

0-
09

-2
3

SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30-09-23

W
E

S
T 

LI
N

E
 O

F 
TH

E
 N

O
R

TH
E

A
S

T 
Q

U
A

R
TE

R
 O

F 
S

E
C

TI
O

N
 3

0-
09

-2
3

FOUND KSP MONUMENT IN CONCRETE

SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE NORTHEAST

QUARTER OF SECTION 30-09-23

FOUND KSP MONUMENT NUMBER 6
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THE NORTHEAST
QUARTER OF SECTION 30-09-23

FOUND BRASS CAP
NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE NORTHEAST
QUARTER OF SECTION 30-09-23
TIES:
1) 22.8' N TO 2" BRASS DISC IN CONCRETE
2) 20.3' S TO 1/2" REBAR
3) 3' +/- TO CENTER OF EAST/WEST ROADWAY

TIES:
1) N 50' TO 1/2" BAR
2) S 49.35' TO KSP STEEL
MARKER POST
3) S/SW 55' TO 60D NAIL
AND WASHER IN WEST
GATE POST

TIES:
1) FOUND AT INTER-
SECTION OF FENCE
LINES
2) 1.6' WEST TO
STEEL PIPE ON
WEST SIDE OF
BRASS CAP
3) 6.35' EAST TO 60D
NAIL IN TREE

TIES:
1) 27.3' NE TO 40D NAIL IN

TREE
2) 16.8' NW TO 40D NAIL IN

TREE
3) 24.8' W TO 40D NAIL IN

TREE

O
VE

R
AL

L 
SE

C
TI

O
N

 L
IN

E 
D

IS
TA

N
C

E 
 2

65
1.

44
'

LOT 1

CONTAINS 3,859,570.16 SQUARE

FEET O
R 88.60 ACRES M

ORE O
R

LESS

LOT 2

CONTAINS 220,290.59

SQUARE FEET O
R 5.06

ACRES M
ORE O

R LESS LOT 3

CONTAINS 218,125.51

SQUARE FEET O
R 5.01

ACRES M
ORE O

R LESS

10' U/E

10' U/E
10' U/E

10' U/E

10' U/E

10' U/E

10' U/E

10' U/E

10
' U

/E

10
' U

/E

10
' U

/E

10
' U

/E

10
' U

/E

S01°34'05"E
5.00'

N88°25'55"E                    584.05' N88°25'55"E 303.28'
CL E MARY ST / CR 24

SEE NOTE 7

30' B/L 30' B/L
30' B/L

10' B/L

30' B/L 30' B/L

10' B/L

10' B/L

10' B/L

10' B/L

10' B/L

10' B/L

10
' B

/L

10' B/L

30' B/L

30' B/L

30' B/L

SADDLE RIDGE
FINAL PLAT

 A TRACT OF LAND IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 20, TOWNSHIP 9,
RANGE 23 IN THE CITY OF LANSING, LEAVENWORTH COUNTY KANSAS

DESCRIPTION

A TRACT OF LAND IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 09 SOUTH, RANGE 23 EAST OF THE
6TH P.M. IN THE CITY OF LANSING, LEAVENWORTH COUNTY, KANSAS BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS
FOLLOWS:

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE SOUTH 01 DEGREES 17
MINUTES 06 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 55.00 FEET
TO THE BEGINNING OF THE HEREIN DESCRIBED TRACT; THENCE SOUTH 01 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 06 SECONDS
EAST, ALONG SAID EAST LINE, A DISTANCE OF 2596.44 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID NORTHEAST
QUARTER; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 03 MINUTES 01 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID
NORTHEAST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 2646.76 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID NORTHEAST
QUARTER; THENCE NORTH 01 DEGREES 48 MINUTES 00 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID
NORTHEAST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 988.92 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 04 MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 1328.81 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01 DEGREES 41 MINUTES 19 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF
340.34 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 04 MINUTES 43 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 325.09 FEET; THENCE
NORTH 01 DEGREES 10 MINUTES 16 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 820.57 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES
38 MINUTES 04 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 116.08 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01 DEGREES 24 MINUTES 30
SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 459.22 FEET TO THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY OF EAST MARY STREET AS IT NOW
EXISTS; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 25 MINUTES 55 SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A
DISTANCE OF 584.05 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01 DEGREES 34 MINUTES 05 SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID SOUTH
RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 5.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 25 MINUTES 55 SECONDS EAST,
ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 303.28 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

CONTAINS:  4,297,987.15 SQUARE FEET OR 98.67 ACRES MORE OR LESS

SECTION 20-09-23
Not to Scale

SE 1/4

NE 1/4
NW 1/4

SW 1/4

Project
Location

DENOTES SET 1/2" REBAR IN CONCRETE WITH LS# 1408 CAP
DENOTES FOUND MONUMENT AS NOTED

DENOTES FOUND MONUMENT AS NOTED

This is to certify on this 23RD day of October, 2020 this field survey was completed on
the ground by me or under my direct supervision and that said survey meets or exceeds
the "Kansas Minimum Standards" for boundary surveys.

ROGER B. DILL LS 1408

This plat of SADDLE RIDGE has been submitted to and approved by the Lansing, Kansas Planning
Commission.

Dated this ____________ day of ___________, 20__
Lansing, Kansas Planning Commission

By __________________________, Chairman
RONALD BARRY

_____________________________, Secretary
         DEBRA WARNER

The dedications shown hereon, if any, are accepted this ____________ day of  ____________, 20__.

_____________________
ANTHONY R. MCNEILL, Mayor
CITY OF LANSING, KANSAS

COUNTY SURVEYOR APPROVAL:
This survey has been reviewed for filing, pursuant to KSA 58-2003, 58-2005, and 58-2011, for content only and
is in compliance with those provisions. No other warranties are extended for implied.

Reviewed by ___________________________________  Date: ___________________
WAYNE MALNICOF

State of KANSAS)
)SS

County of  )

This is to certify that this instrument was filed for record in the Register of Deeds office on this ____________
day of ___________________________, 20__, at ____________ o'clock and is duly recorded.

___________________________________________________
TERRILOIS G. MASHBURN, Register of Deeds

___________________________________________________
, Deputy

DEDICATION:

The undersigned proprietor of the above described tract of land has caused the same to be subdivided in the
manner as shown on the accompanying plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "SADDLE
RIDGE."

The undersigned proprietor of said property shown on this plat does hereby dedicate for public use and public
ways and thoroughfares, all parcels and parts of land indicated on said plat as streets, terraces, places, roads,
drives, lanes, parkways, avenues and alleys not heretofore dedicated.  Where prior easement rights have been
granted to any person, utility or corporation on said parts of the land so dedicated, and any pipes, lines, poles and
wires, conduits, ducts or cables heretofore installed thereupon and therein are required to be relocated, in
accordance with proposed improvements as now set forth, the undersigned proprietor hereby absolves and
agrees to indemnify the City of Lansing, Kansas, from any expense incident to the relocation of any such existing
utility installations within said prior easement.

An easement is hereby granted to the City of Lansing, Leavenworth County, Kansas, to enter upon, construct,
maintain, use and authorize the location, of conduits for providing water, gas, cable, electric, sewers, and other
utility services, including related facilities and appurtenances thereto, and drainage facilities, upon, under, over
and across those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", and further, subject to
administration and regulation by the City, the subordinate use of such areas by other governmental entities and
utilities, franchised or authorized to do business in the City of Lansing, Leavenworth County, Kansas.

The undersigned proprietors of the above described land hereby consents and agrees the City Council of
Lansing, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways and
thoroughfares, or part thereof, for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessments, and that the
amount of the unpaid special assessments on such land dedicated shall become and remain a lien on the
remainder of that land fronting or abutting on such dedicated public ways or thoroughfares.

The use of all units in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the restrictions which will be executed as a
separate instrument of writing and will be recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Leavenworth County,
Kansas, said restrictions will thereby be made a part of the dedication of this plat as though fully set forth herein.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,
I, undersigned owner of SADDLE RIDGE have set our hands this ______ day of ________,20__.

_______________________________________________________________
MARK LINAWEAVER
MARK LINAWEAVER TRUST

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:

STATE OF KANSAS
COUNTY OF

BE IT REMEMBERED THAT ON THIS ____ DAY OF _______, 20__, BEFORE ME, THE UNDERSIGNED, A
NOTARY PUBLIC, IN AND FOR SAID COUNTY AND STATE, CAME ______________________, TO ME
PERSONALLY KNOWN TO BE THE SAME PERSON WHO EXECUTED THE FORGOING INSTRUMENT OF
WRITING, AND DULY ACKNOWLEDGED THE EXECUTION OF SAME. IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I HAVE
HEREUNTO SET MY HAND AND AFFIXED MY NOTARY SEAL THE DAY AND YEAR ABOVE WRITTEN.

NOTARY PUBLIC_______________________________

My Commission Expires:__________________________

DATE

PREPARED FOR

SEC-TWN-RNG

VICINITY MAP

SCALE

LEGEND

GENERAL NOTES

SADDLE RIDGE

JANUARY 20, 2021

30-09-23

1"=150'

MARK LINAWEAVER

Insert Logo Here

0 75' 150'

1022 E MARY STREET,
LANSING, KANSAS 66043

EAST MARY STREET

EAST GILMAN ROAD 12
7 

TH
 S

TR
EE

T

K-
7

N

S

EW

1. The basis for the bearing system for this plat is the Kansas North Zone U.S. State Plane
1983.
2. All distances shown hereon are ground distances in feet.
3. Floodplain Note:  According to "FIRM" Map Community Panel Numbers 20209C0010D,
effective September 2, 2011, this plat is located in Zones "AE" and "X".
4. All section corners were found and held.
5. Error in Closure: 1 part in 21,140,678.16'
6. 10' proposed U/E surrounding property - 10' U/E centered on interior lot lines.
7. Right of way added to survey per Kansas State Highway plans, Leavenworth Project
C-386, Public Road Division number 5. Right of way distances are shown from the
centerline of the road.
8. Current Zoning R-2 / Proposed Zoning R-2
9. All lots will be serviced via septic system.
10. Number of buildable lots - 3
11. Maximum lot size is 3,859,570.16 sq ft or 88.60 Acres.
12. The average lot size is 1,432,662.09 sq ft or 32.89 Acres.
13. Sanitary manhole locations shown per City of Lansing Mapping.
14. No planned services.
15. Access to lots shall be governed by the provisions of the UDO and Technical
Specifications. Any modification to the existing access points in location and/or utilization
shall have a proper sight distance analysis as part of the application.

LOT 1

LOT 2

LOT 3

GROSS ACRES DEDICATED ROW

88.60 ACRES

5.06 ACRES

5.01 ACRES

14,499.23 SQFT/0.33 ACRES

14,822.22 SQFT/0.34 ACRES

16,888.08 SQFT/0.39 ACRES

*DEDICATED ROW CALCULATED TO THE CL OF E MARY ST*



Page 1 of 3 

Planning Commission Staff Report 
January 20, 2021 

Subdivision Case SDFP-2021-1 
1022 E. Mary St. 

Project Facts 

Applicant 
Mark Linaweaver Trust 

Address 
1022 E. Mary St. 

Property ID 
099-30-0-10-01-001.00-0

Zoning 
R-2 Single-Unit Residential District

Future Land Use 
Park / State Property 

Land 
4,283,122.68 SF (98.3 acres) 

Requested Approvals 
Final Plat 

Summary 
Mark Linaweaver, owner of 1022 E Mary Street, has applied for approval of a final plat for Saddle Ridge. This final plat, 
if approved, will allow the property owner to subdivide approximately 98.3 acres into three lots. Lot 1 would make up 
the majority of the existing property at approximately 87 acres. Lot 2 and 3 would be subdivided to each make up 
approximately 5 acres. The current zoning for the site is R-2 Single-Unit Residential District. 

As the Planning Commission may remember, this property was planned to be subdivided into roughly 149 lots but has 
since been revised to the submitted configuration. 



Subdivision Case SDFP-2021-1 – 1022 E. Mary St. 
City of Lansing, Kansas  

Planning Commission 1/20/2021 
 

Page 2 of 3 

Discussion points from Checklist 
 
The checklist was reviewed and completed by the Director of Community & Economic Development. Items marked no are 
discussed below: 
 
 Building setback lines are missing from the plat and have been noted as such on the attached plat that is marked 

up. 
 The name of the registered land surveyor preparing the plat is shown on the submitted document but is not signed 

nor sealed. This will be completed prior to filing of the document, subject to the approval of the Planning 
Commission and City Council. 

 Restrictive covenants are referenced on the plat, but no copy has been provided to the City at this point. 
 Certificates signed by the City Clerk and County Treasurer that all taxes and special assessments due and payable 

have been paid will be collected before the plat is filed with the Register of Deeds. 
 

Community & Economic Development / Public Works / Wastewater / City Engineer Comments 
 
Comments on this final plat from the preliminary plat process have been addressed. Additional comments redlined on 
the plat have been identified and can be addressed before the plat is signed by the Chairman of the Planning 
Commission either before or after approval by the City Council. 
 
Final plats are a refined version of the preliminary plat that presents proposed ownership and development patterns, as 
well as the specific location of public facilities and public property based on detailed designs. After approval of the 
preliminary plat, the applicant may submit a final plat for all or portions of the preliminary plat area for consideration at 
the next scheduled Planning Commission meeting. A final plat must be reviewed by staff and brought before the Planning 
Commission for approval, approval with conditions, or denial. 
 
Community & Economic Development Review (from Article 2.02-E of the UDO): 
 
 The layout and design of the final plat is in substantial compliance with the approved preliminary plat considering 

the number of lots or parcels; the block layout, street designs and access; the open space systems and civic design 
elements; the infrastructure systems; or other elements of coordinated developments. 

o The final plat submitted is in compliance with the approved preliminary plat. No open space or civic design 
elements have been proposed, and the final plat notes that all lots will be serviced via septic system and 
has no planned services. 

 The construction plans for any utilities, infrastructure or public facilities meet all technical specifications. 
o The final plat notes that all lots will be serviced via septic system and has no planned services. 

 The phasing and timing of public improvements ensures construction and performance guarantees. 
o The final plat does not include public improvements; thus, no phasing is provided. 

 Any deviations in the final plat from the preliminary plat brings the application in further compliance with the 
Comprehensive Plan and the purposes and intent of this Code. 

o There do not appear to be any deviations from the preliminary plat. 
 The recommendations of professional staff, or any other public entity asked to officially review the plat. 

o Based on substantial compliance with the approved preliminary plat, and subject to the review of any 
technical drawings or legal review, Staff from Community & Economic Development find this proposed 
final plat acceptable, subject to revisions noted in this report. 

o All items redlined on the copy attached to this staff report must be rectified and completed before the 
final plat can be taken to City Council. Additionally, signatures of the surveyor, Planning Commission Chair, 
etc. should be applied to the copy taken to City Council. 

 
  



Subdivision Case SDFP-2021-1 – 1022 E. Mary St. 
City of Lansing, Kansas  

Planning Commission 1/20/2021 
 

Page 3 of 3 

Public Works: 
 
 As noted in the Preliminary Plat process, there is significant floodplain on this property, so any construction will 

need to occur in accordance with the Lansing Floodplain Regulations. 
 Access will be limited to one point per lot from E. Mary Street. Sight distance analysis may be required due to the 

grades and limited visibility along the frontage on E. Mary Street. This will need to be reviewed when building 
permits are submitted with plot plans for the lots. Additionally, this note needs to be added to the plat so that it 
becomes a matter of public record. 

 
Wastewater: 
 
 As noted in the Preliminary Plat process, there are plans to extend a sewer main through Lot 1 of this proposed 

subdivision at some point in the future. When Lot 1 is re-platted in the future, sewer easements will need to be 
obtained to provide for the extension of this sewer main. 

 

Acknowledgments 
 
The following City of Lansing staff members reviewed this project and provided information for this report: 
 

• Matthew R. Schmitz, MPA – Director, Community & Economic Development 
• Michael Spickelmier, P.E. – Director, Public Works 
• Anthony Zell, MBA – Director, Wastewater 

 

Notice of City Codes 
 
The Applicant is subject to all applicable City codes within the Municipal Code – whether specifically stated in this report 
or not – including, but not limited to, Zoning, Buildings and Construction, Subdivisions, and Sign Code. The Applicant is 
also subject to all applicable Federal, State, and local laws. 
 

Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve the Final Plat and recommend to the City Council approval of 
this final plat, with the condition of modification of the plat to rectify the items outlined herein. 
 



CHECKLIST FOR COMPLETENESS 

OF 

APPLICATION FOR PLANNING COMMISSION 

REVIEW AND APPROVAL 

OF 

FINAL PLAT 

FOR 

SADDLE RIDGE 
(Name of Subdivision) 

Matthew R. Schmitz  1-14-2021
 Person Completing Checklist   Date 

COMPLETION OF THIS CHECKLIST IN NO WAY CONSTITUTES AN 
EVALUATION OF THE MERITS OR ACCURACY OF THE PLANS, 
DESIGN OR ENGINEERING OF THE FINAL PLAT.  THIS STEP IS 
INTENDED ONLY AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW OF THE 
COMPLETENESS OF THE APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL BEFORE IT 
UNDERGOES STAFF EXAMINATION BY THE CITY ENGINEER FOR 
HIS RECOMMENDATION TO THE PLANNING COMMISSION. 



FINAL PLAT CHECKLIST 
YES NO N/A 

 
1. Preliminary Plat has been approved.        
 
2. Applicant agrees to submit an original with all final revisions 
 in both paper and electronic format to the Community and 
 Economic Development Department        
 
3. Material is submitted at least fourteen (14) days prior to Planning  

Commission meeting at which it is desired to be considered.     
 
4. Original copy contains names and locations for duly acknowledged 
 and notarized signatures of the owner(s) of the property.     
 
5. Final Plat is drawn at scale of at least 1" = 200'       
 
6. Size of sheet on which final plat is prepared is at least 36 inches  

by 24 inches.  If more than one sheet required, all are same size  
and index map is provided.          

 
7. FINAL PLAT CONTAINS: 
 

A. Name of Subdivision         
 

B. Location, including section, township, range, county 
and state           

 
C. Location and description of existing monuments or  

benchmarks.           
 

D. Location of lots and blocks with dimensions in feet  
and decimals of feet          

 
E. Location of alley, street and highway rights-of-way,  

parks and other features including radii on curves with  
dimensions in feet and decimals of feet.       

 
F. Clear numbering for all lots.        

 
G. Clear numbering or lettering.        
 
H. Locations, widths and names of all streets and alleys  

to be dedicated. (If applicable)        
 

I. Boundaries and descriptions of any areas other than streets  
to be dedicated or reserved for public use. (If applicable)    

 
J. Minimum area and associated minimum elevation for the  

building on each lot (building site).  (If requested by  
Planning Commission)         



Final Plat Checklist 
Page 2      YES NO N/A 

K. Building setback lines along all streets, with dimensions

L. Name, signature, seal of licensed engineer or registered
land surveyor preparing plat.

M. Scale of plat, (shown graphically) date of prep and
north point.

N. Statement dedicating all easements, streets, alleys and all
other public areas not previously dedicated.

8. A copy of any restrictive covenants applicable to the subdivision
is provided.  (If applicable)

9. Required certifications/acknowledgements are present:

A. Certificate signed and acknowledged by all parties having
any record, title or interest in the land subdivided, and
consenting to the preparation and recording of said sub- 
division map.

B. Certificate (as above) dedicating or reserving all parcels of
land shown on the final plat and intended for any public or
private use including easements, and those parcels which are
intended for the exclusive use of the lot owners of the sub- 
division, their licensees, visitors, tenants and servants.

C. Certificate of responsibility by registered land surveyor
preparing final map, accompanied by seal.

D. Certificate(s) signed by City Clerk and County Treasurer
that all taxes and special assessments due and payable have
been paid.

E. Notary acknowledgement in form shown in Subdivision
Regulation (Pg. 10).

F. Endorsement by Planning Commission in form shown in
Subdivision Regulations (Pg. 10).

G. Public use acceptance by Governing Body in form shown
in Subdivision Regulation (Pg. 10, 11).



Lansing Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting 
January 20th, 2021 
 

Page 3 of 5 

 
Craig Gephart, resident at 310 W. Olive St., Lansing, KS stated he would caution the 
Commission using the term improbable regarding apartments, because he has seen in the past 
where the City used that term regarding HUD housing and within 2 weeks of a developer going 
to the State, HUD housing is now Lansing Heights near him. Mr. Gephart said unfortunately 
there was no push back from the Council, after the public was told this would not be done. Mr. 
Gephart said he would like to see a development for this area that not only benefits the City, 
but Lansing residents as well. Mr. Gephart said he supports the idea of retail, but not of 
apartments/condominiums that can create a new set of problems from a high concentration of 
people living in one area. Mr. Gephart would like to see fencing and/or protection provided to 
the current residents in the area. Also, he would like to see erosion/drainage potentials 
addressed, lighting issues addressed, noise etc. Mr. Gephart would also like to see vegetation in 
the area to help beautify the City and Vice-Chairman stated this has been addressed in the 
ordinance to ensure the appropriate trees and vegetation are planted that are beneficial to the 
City. Mr. Gephart ended with a plea to the Commission to put the current residents in the area 
at the forefront of the decision-making process to ensure whatever is developed is mutually 
beneficial and not detrimental to the residents.  
 
Vice-Chairman Kowalewski closed the public hearing at 7:25 p.m.  
 
Vice-Chairman Kowalewski asked for a motion to approve the checklist as a finding of fact for 
the Rezoning application for 00000 Centre Drive, Lansing, Kansas. Commissioner Nancy 
McDougal made the motion seconded by Chairman Ron Barry. The motion passes 5-0.  
 
Vice-Chairman Kowalewski asked for a motion to recommend approval, approve with 
conditions, or recommend disapproval to the Governing Body the Rezoning Application for City 
of Lansing, KS. Commissioner Jerry Gies made the motion seconded by Commissioner Nancy 
McDougal. The motion passes with 4-0-1 with Chairman Ron Barry abstaining.  
 

2. Final Plat Application Case # SDFP-2021-1: 1022 E. Mary St, Lansing, Kansas 
Application submitted by Mark Linaweaver Trust, property owner. This application is for a final 
plat consisting of 3 lots and approximately 98.67 acres. The property is currently zoned R-2 
Single-Unit Residential District.  
 
Commissioner Nancy McDougal made a motion to approve the checklist as a finding of fact 
seconded by Commissioner Gies recommending approval subject to conditions as outlined in the 
staff report. The motion passes 5-0.  
 

3. Final Plat Application Case # SDFP-2021-2: 811 4-H Road, Lansing, Kansas 
Application submitted by Lyle and Mary Chadwell Trust, property owners. This application is for 
a final plat consisting of 4 lots and approximately 154.6 acres. The property is currently zoned 
A-1 Agricultural District.  
 
Mr. Schmitz asked for clarification from the Commission on the staff report comment regarding 
access along Gilman Rd for Lots 3 and 4. Harland Russell, with George Butler Associates (GBA), 
9801 Renner Boulevard, Ste. 300, Lenexa, KS 66219, introduced himself as the plat preparer 
and said he asked the question to the staff earlier today and was told the restriction was on the 



AGENDA ITEM 
TO: Tim Vandall, City Administrator 

FROM: Matthew R. Schmitz, Director, Community & Economic Development 

DATE: February 4, 2021 

SUBJECT: Final Plat – Ryan Family Farms 

       AGENDA ITEM # 

Explanation: Chadwell, Lyle H & Mary E; Trust, owner of 811 4-H RD, has applied for approval 
of a final plat for Ryan Family Farms. This final plat, if approved, will allow the property owner to 
subdivide 155.49 acres into four lots. Lot 1 would make up most of the existing property with 
139.55 acres. Lot 2, 3, and 4 would be located along the south side of Lot 1 and separated by a 
proposed future public street – Gilman Road. Lot 2 would make up 6.76 acres, Lot 3 would 
make up 1.82 acres, and Lot 4 would make up 1.42 acres. The current zoning for the site is A-1 
Agricultural District, and no zoning modifications are proposed at this time. 

This plat is being performed to facilitate the sale of two properties, specifically Lots 3 and 4 as 
shown on the final plat. The property owners to the south, in Rock Creek Estates, have 
expressed interest in expanding their backyards in this area. City Staff initiated the extension of 
Gilman Road Right-of-Way in return for vacating the ROW along the southern border of the 
Ryan property, with any additional square footage that exceeds the original ROW to be 
compensated to the property owners by the City.  

The final plat has been updated to reflect the conditions listed in the Staff Report and now 
meets the requirements of the checklist, with the exception of final signatures for each required 
signatory. Those signatures will be obtained before the plat can be filed with Leavenworth 
County Register of Deeds. 

The revised final plat, the checklist, and minutes excerpt from the January 20th Planning 
Commission meeting are attached for review. 

The Planning Commission voted to recommend approval of this final plat application with a 5-0 
vote. 

Action: Staff recommends a motion to approve the final plat for Ryan Family Farms. 

4





Page 1 of 3 

Planning Commission Staff Report 
January 20, 2021 

Subdivision Case SDFP-2021-2 
811 4-H Road 

Project Facts 

Applicant 
Lyle and Mary Chadwell Trust, et al. 

Address 
811 4-H Road 

Property ID 
107-25-0-00-00-005.00-0

Zoning 
A-1 Agricultural District

Future Land Use 
Single Family Residential 

Land 
6,733,683.60 SF (154.6 acres) 

Requested Approvals 
Final Plat 

Summary 
Chadwell, Lyle H & Mary E; Trust, owner of 811 4-H RD, has applied for approval of a final plat for Ryan Family Farms. 
This final plat, if approved, will allow the property owner to subdivide approximately 155 acres into four lots. Lot 1 
would make up most of the existing property with approximately 141 acres. Lot 2, 3, and 4 would be located along the 
south side of Lot 1 and separated by a proposed future public street – Gilman Road. Lot 2 would make up approximately 
6 acres, Lot 3 would make up approximately 2.6 acres, and Lot 4 would make up approximately 1.4 acres. The current 
zoning for the site is A-1 Agricultural District. 

This plat is being done at this time to facilitate the sale of two properties, specifically Lots 3 and 4 as shown on the final 
plat. The property owners to the south, in Rock Creek Estates, have expressed interest in expanding their backyards in 
this area. City Staff initiated the extension of Gilman Road Right-of-Way in return for vacating the ROW along the 
southern border of the Ryan property, with any additional square footage that exceeds the original ROW to be 
compensated to the property owners by the City. 



Subdivision Case SDFP-2021-2 – 811 4-H Road 
City of Lansing, Kansas  

Planning Commission 1/20/2021 
 

Page 2 of 3 

Discussion points from Checklist 
 
The checklist was reviewed and completed by the Director of Community & Economic Development. Items marked no are 
discussed below: 
 
 The name of the registered land surveyor preparing the plat is shown on the submitted document but is not signed 

nor sealed. This will be completed prior to filing of the document, subject to the approval of the Planning 
Commission and City Council. 

 

Community & Economic Development / Public Works / Wastewater / City Engineer Comments 
 
Comments on this final plat from the preliminary plat process have been addressed. Additional comments redlined on 
the plat have been identified and can be addressed before the plat is signed by the Chairman of the Planning 
Commission either before or after approval by the City Council. 
 
Final plats are a refined version of the preliminary plat that presents proposed ownership and development patterns, as 
well as the specific location of public facilities and public property based on detailed designs. After approval of the 
preliminary plat, the applicant may submit a final plat for all or portions of the preliminary plat area for consideration at 
the next scheduled Planning Commission meeting. A final plat must be reviewed by staff and brought before the Planning 
Commission for approval, approval with conditions, or denial. 
 
Community & Economic Development Review (from Article 2.02-E of the UDO): 
 
 The layout and design of the final plat is in substantial compliance with the approved preliminary plat considering 

the number of lots or parcels; the block layout, street designs and access; the open space systems and civic design 
elements; the infrastructure systems; or other elements of coordinated developments. 

o The final plat is in compliance with the approved preliminary plat. A public easement of Gilman Road 
would be dedicated as indicated on the plat with the understanding the City plans to construct the road 
connection at some point in the future. There would be no direct access to Lots 3 and 4 until Gilman Road 
is constructed. 

 The construction plans for any utilities, infrastructure or public facilities meet all technical specifications. 
o No construction plans related to any utilities, infrastructure, or public facilities have been reviewed as no 

construction is planned at this time. 
 The phasing and timing of public improvements ensures construction and performance guarantees. 

o No construction plans or phasing plans were provided at this time, as no construction is planned. 
 Any deviations in the final plat from the preliminary plat brings the application in further compliance with the 

Comprehensive Plan and the purposes and intent of this Code. 
o There does not appear to be any deviations from the preliminary plat. 

 The recommendations of professional staff, or any other public entity asked to officially review the plat. 
o Based on substantial compliance with the approved preliminary plat, and subject to the review of any 

technical drawings or legal review, Staff from Community & Economic Development find this proposed 
final plat acceptable, subject to revisions noted in this report.  

Public Works: 
 
 Because Lot 4 is planned to be extensions of existing property to the south (homeowners along Willow Street), 

and Lot 3 will have access from the cul-de-sac on Willow Street, Staff is requesting that the Planning Commission 
make it a requirement that access control along Gilman Road for these lots be added to the Final Plat before the 
Final Plat is filed with the Register of Deeds. This would prevent driveways from being installed onto future Gilman 
Road from these parcels. 



Subdivision Case SDFP-2021-2 – 811 4-H Road 
City of Lansing, Kansas  

Planning Commission 1/20/2021 
 

Page 3 of 3 

 Staff is also requesting that the Planning Commission make it a requirement that access control along 147th Street 
be added on Lot 2. Access to Lot 2 would be provided via future Gilman Road, or via Canyon Lane today. 

 
Wastewater: 
 
 There are plans to extend a sewer main through this proposed subdivision at some point in the future. When Lot 

1 is re-platted in the future, sewer easements will need to be obtained from the owners of Lot 3, Lot 2, and Lot 1 
to provide for the extension of this future sewer main. 

 

Acknowledgments 
 
The following City of Lansing staff members reviewed this project and provided information for this report: 
 

• Matthew R. Schmitz, MPA – Director, Community & Economic Development 
• Michael Spickelmier, P.E. – Director, Public Works 
• Anthony Zell, MBA – Director, Wastewater 

 

Notice of City Codes 
 
The Applicant is subject to all applicable City codes within the Municipal Code – whether specifically stated in this report 
or not – including, but not limited to, Zoning, Buildings and Construction, Subdivisions, and Sign Code. The Applicant is 
also subject to all applicable Federal, State, and local laws. 
 

Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve the Final Plat and recommend to the City Council approval of 
this final plat, with the condition of modification of the plat to rectify the items outlined herein. 
 



CHECKLIST FOR COMPLETENESS 

OF 

APPLICATION FOR PLANNING COMMISSION 

REVIEW AND APPROVAL 

OF 

FINAL PLAT 

FOR 

RYAN FAMILY FARMS 
(Name of Subdivision) 

Matthew R. Schmitz  1-14-2021
 Person Completing Checklist   Date 

COMPLETION OF THIS CHECKLIST IN NO WAY CONSTITUTES AN 
EVALUATION OF THE MERITS OR ACCURACY OF THE PLANS, 
DESIGN OR ENGINEERING OF THE FINAL PLAT.  THIS STEP IS 
INTENDED ONLY AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW OF THE 
COMPLETENESS OF THE APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL BEFORE IT 
UNDERGOES STAFF EXAMINATION BY THE CITY ENGINEER FOR 
HIS RECOMMENDATION TO THE PLANNING COMMISSION. 



FINAL PLAT CHECKLIST 
YES NO N/A 

 
1. Preliminary Plat has been approved.        
 
2. Applicant agrees to submit an original with all final revisions 
 in both paper and electronic format to the Community and 
 Economic Development Department        
 
3. Material is submitted at least fourteen (14) days prior to Planning  

Commission meeting at which it is desired to be considered.     
 
4. Original copy contains names and locations for duly acknowledged 
 and notarized signatures of the owner(s) of the property.     
 
5. Final Plat is drawn at scale of at least 1" = 200'       
 
6. Size of sheet on which final plat is prepared is at least 36 inches  

by 24 inches.  If more than one sheet required, all are same size  
and index map is provided.          

 
7. FINAL PLAT CONTAINS: 
 

A. Name of Subdivision         
 

B. Location, including section, township, range, county 
and state           

 
C. Location and description of existing monuments or  

benchmarks.           
 

D. Location of lots and blocks with dimensions in feet  
and decimals of feet          

 
E. Location of alley, street and highway rights-of-way,  

parks and other features including radii on curves with  
dimensions in feet and decimals of feet.       

 
F. Clear numbering for all lots.        

 
G. Clear numbering or lettering.        
 
H. Locations, widths and names of all streets and alleys  

to be dedicated. (If applicable)        
 

I. Boundaries and descriptions of any areas other than streets  
to be dedicated or reserved for public use. (If applicable)    

 
J. Minimum area and associated minimum elevation for the  

building on each lot (building site).  (If requested by  
Planning Commission)         



Final Plat Checklist 
Page 2              YES NO N/A 
 

K. Building setback lines along all streets, with dimensions   
 

L. Name, signature, seal of licensed engineer or registered 
land surveyor preparing plat.       

 
  M. Scale of plat, (shown graphically) date of prep and  

north point.          
 
N. Statement dedicating all easements, streets, alleys and all  

other public areas not previously dedicated.     
 
8. A copy of any restrictive covenants applicable to the subdivision  

is provided.  (If applicable)         
 
9. Required certifications/acknowledgements are present: 
 

A. Certificate signed and acknowledged by all parties having 
any record, title or interest in the land subdivided, and  
consenting to the preparation and recording of said sub- 
division map.          

 
B. Certificate (as above) dedicating or reserving all parcels of 

land shown on the final plat and intended for any public or 
private use including easements, and those parcels which are  
intended for the exclusive use of the lot owners of the sub- 
division, their licensees, visitors, tenants and servants.   

 
C. Certificate of responsibility by registered land surveyor 

preparing final map, accompanied by seal.     
 

D. Certificate(s) signed by City Clerk and County Treasurer  
that all taxes and special assessments due and payable have 
been paid.          

 
E. Notary acknowledgement in form shown in Subdivision 

Regulation (Pg. 10).         
 

F. Endorsement by Planning Commission in form shown in 
Subdivision Regulations (Pg. 10).       

 
G. Public use acceptance by Governing Body in form shown 

in Subdivision Regulation (Pg. 10, 11).      



Lansing Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting 
January 20th, 2021 
 

Page 3 of 5 

 
Craig Gephart, resident at 310 W. Olive St., Lansing, KS stated he would caution the 
Commission using the term improbable regarding apartments, because he has seen in the past 
where the City used that term regarding HUD housing and within 2 weeks of a developer going 
to the State, HUD housing is now Lansing Heights near him. Mr. Gephart said unfortunately 
there was no push back from the Council, after the public was told this would not be done. Mr. 
Gephart said he would like to see a development for this area that not only benefits the City, 
but Lansing residents as well. Mr. Gephart said he supports the idea of retail, but not of 
apartments/condominiums that can create a new set of problems from a high concentration of 
people living in one area. Mr. Gephart would like to see fencing and/or protection provided to 
the current residents in the area. Also, he would like to see erosion/drainage potentials 
addressed, lighting issues addressed, noise etc. Mr. Gephart would also like to see vegetation in 
the area to help beautify the City and Vice-Chairman stated this has been addressed in the 
ordinance to ensure the appropriate trees and vegetation are planted that are beneficial to the 
City. Mr. Gephart ended with a plea to the Commission to put the current residents in the area 
at the forefront of the decision-making process to ensure whatever is developed is mutually 
beneficial and not detrimental to the residents.  
 
Vice-Chairman Kowalewski closed the public hearing at 7:25 p.m.  
 
Vice-Chairman Kowalewski asked for a motion to approve the checklist as a finding of fact for 
the Rezoning application for 00000 Centre Drive, Lansing, Kansas. Commissioner Nancy 
McDougal made the motion seconded by Chairman Ron Barry. The motion passes 5-0.  
 
Vice-Chairman Kowalewski asked for a motion to recommend approval, approve with 
conditions, or recommend disapproval to the Governing Body the Rezoning Application for City 
of Lansing, KS. Commissioner Jerry Gies made the motion seconded by Commissioner Nancy 
McDougal. The motion passes with 4-0-1 with Chairman Ron Barry abstaining.  
 

2. Final Plat Application Case # SDFP-2021-1: 1022 E. Mary St, Lansing, Kansas 
Application submitted by Mark Linaweaver Trust, property owner. This application is for a final 
plat consisting of 3 lots and approximately 98.67 acres. The property is currently zoned R-2 
Single-Unit Residential District.  
 
Commissioner Nancy McDougal made a motion to approve the checklist as a finding of fact 
seconded by Commissioner Gies recommending approval subject to conditions as outlined in the 
staff report. The motion passes 5-0.  
 

3. Final Plat Application Case # SDFP-2021-2: 811 4-H Road, Lansing, Kansas 
Application submitted by Lyle and Mary Chadwell Trust, property owners. This application is for 
a final plat consisting of 4 lots and approximately 154.6 acres. The property is currently zoned 
A-1 Agricultural District.  
 
Mr. Schmitz asked for clarification from the Commission on the staff report comment regarding 
access along Gilman Rd for Lots 3 and 4. Harland Russell, with George Butler Associates (GBA), 
9801 Renner Boulevard, Ste. 300, Lenexa, KS 66219, introduced himself as the plat preparer 
and said he asked the question to the staff earlier today and was told the restriction was on the 



Lansing Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting 
January 20th, 2021 
 

Page 4 of 5 

fact that Gilman Rd. is a collector road and one wouldn’t want to have driveway access off a 
collector road. Mr. Russell further stated the idea would be if Gilman were to be developed in 
the future, there might be consideration for Lots 2 and 3 to front Gilman Rd and potentially 
house residential homes. Mr. Russell stated the current intent is not to have them developed 
but to re plat them as part of the Rock Creek development that is to the South. Mr. Russell 
would like to see some flexibility in today’s thoughts towards the future. Commissioner Gies 
stated he does not feel the Chadwell’s should have any say in the future access of this property 
because they will no longer be owners of the property. Mr. Russell stated he agrees with Mr. 
Gies’ statement today, however if the re plat never occurs with Rock Creek to the South, then 
you face the potential of having two buildable lots that would be taxable entities on home sites. 
Commissioner Gies answered if that happens, then the future homeowners at that time can 
address their concerns with the City then. Mr. Russell agreed and stated it is nothing of a 
concern in the present moment.  
 
Mary Chadwell, property owner, stated she agreed also with Commissioner Gies. Public Works 
Director Michael Spickelmier also added that the intent is to never have rear access to any 
residential lot, especially off a collector street. Mr. Russell agreed. Ms. Chadwell said at this time 
there is no need for access off Gilman Rd for those 2 lots and made note that Lot 2 could be 
accessed from Rock Creek Estates from Canyon Lane and Mr. Schmitz confirmed.  
 
Vice-Chairman Jake Kowalewski asked for a motion to approve, approve with conditions, or 
disapprove the Final Plat application for Lyle and Mary Chadwell Trust. Commissioner Nancy 
McDougal made a motion to approve with conditions that the access issues as outlined in the 
staff report be addressed seconded by Commissioner Amy Baker. The motion passes 5-0. 
 
 

4. Final Plat Application Case # SDFP-2021-3: 00000 Reagan Drive, Lansing, Kansas 
Application submitted by Greenamyre Rentals Inc, property owners. This application is for a 
final plat consisting of 5 lots and approximately 10.81 acres. The property is currently zoned R-
3 Mixed-Density Neighborhood. 
 
Commissioner Gies asked Mr. Schmitz if the sub street North of Lot 4 would go away and Mr. 
Schmitz answered that in the preliminary plat that area was not shown as right-of-way but was 
corrected in the final plat to show right-of-way and there is no intention of building anything for 
public improvement today, it is just to establish right-of-way for the future. Commissioner Gies 
asked if there would have to be a front yard setback (25’) as opposed to 12’ as listed on the 
North side of Lot 4 and Mr. Schmitz agreed since it is a corner lot. Mr. Schmitz added that 
whatever may develop would need to face Reagan Drive. Jeremy Greenamyre representing 
Greenamyre Rentals, 2500 S. 2nd Street in Leavenworth, Kansas stated that Lot 4’s intention 
would be uniform to the rest of the cul-de-sac.  
 
Vice-Chairman Kowalewski asked for a motion to approve, approve with conditions, or 
disapprove the Final Plat application for Greenamyre Rentals, Inc. Commissioner Gies made a 
motion to recommend approval to City Council with modification as outlined for Lot 4 seconded 
by Chairman Barry. The motion passes 5-0. 
 

 



AGENDA ITEM 
TO: Tim Vandall, City Administrator 

FROM: Matthew R. Schmitz, Director, Community & Economic Development 

DATE: February 4, 2021 

SUBJECT: Final Plat – Fawn Valley South, 2nd Plat 

       AGENDA ITEM # 

Explanation: Greenamyre Rentals Inc., owner of property at 00000 Reagan Drive and 00000 1st 
Terrace, have applied to plat Fawn Valley South, 2nd Plat, which will replat Block 10 and 
portions of Blocks 7, 8, and 9, Fawn Subdivision. This final plat, if approved, will allow the 
property owners to subdivide this area. The intention is to add four developable lots to the end 
of Reagan Drive to add additional duplexes and finish out the development of this cul-de-sac. 
Upon development of the remaining property shown on the plat (Lot 5), an additional plat may 
be required depending on the type of project presented.  

The final plat has been updated to reflect the conditions listed in the Staff Report and now 
meets the requirements of the checklist, with the exception of final signatures for each required 
signatory. Those signatures will be obtained before the plat can be filed with Leavenworth 
County Register of Deeds. 

The revised final plat, the checklist, and minutes excerpt from the January 20th Planning 
Commission meeting are attached for review. 

The Planning Commission voted to recommend approval of this final plat application with a 5-0 
vote. 

Action: Staff recommends a motion to approve the final plat for Fawn Valley South, 2nd Plat. 

5



BLOCK NO. 10, FAWN SUBDIVISION

REMAINDER OF

BLOCK NO. 9, FAWN SUBDIVISION

R

E

M

A

I

N

D

E

R

 

O

F

B

L

O

C

K

 

N

O

.

 

7

,

 

F

A

W

N

 

S

U

B

D

I

V

I

S

I

O

N

PARKLAND

LOT 4, BLOCK 3, FAWN VALLEY SOUTH

PARKLAND

LOT 4, BLOCK 3, FAWN VALLEY SOUTH

REMAINDER OF

BLOCK NO. 8 & Portion of Block 11,

 FAWN SUBDIVISION

PARKLAND

LOT 4, BLOCK 3, FAWN VALLEY SOUTH

BLOCK 1

FAWN VALLEY SOUTH

S

5

9

°

1

2

'

3

3

"

W

 

 

6

7

8

.

1

9

'

S
8
4
°
2
4
'0

6
"
E

8
9
.4

6
' (C

M
)

S

5

2

°

2

2

'

2

3

"

E

7

2

.

7

9

'

∆=29°10'37"

R=371.00'

L=188.93' (CM)

L=189.09'(P)

T=96.56'

C=186.89'

N

2

1

°

3

5

'

4

5

"

E

 

 

1

6

4

.

0

0

'

∆=53°15'00"

R=120.00'

L=111.53'

T=60.16'

C=107.56'

N

3

1

°

3

9

'

1

5

"

W

4

9

7

.

4

2

'

∆=87°00'00"

R=50.00'

L=75.92'

T=47.45'

C=68.84'

N

3

1

°

3

9

'

1

5

"

W

1

4

8

.

2

1

'

S

3

5

°

3

9

'

2

9

"

E

 

 

4

6

3

.

0

3

'

S

4

0

°

3

1

'

1

6

"

W

 

 

2

3

9

.

7

1

'

 

(

C

M

)

S

1

1

°
0

2

'
4

2

"

E

 
 
2

4

4

.
0

6

'
 
(
C

M

)

N

5

3

°

1

0

'

1

9

"

E

 

 

2

3

0

.

2

3

'

N

3

6

°

5

7

'

0

0

"

E

 

 

1

0

8

.

3

9

'

N61°20'45"E

12.63'

∆=36°29'16"

R=230.00'

L=146.47'

T=75.82'

C=144.01'

∆=187°56'01"

R=50.00'

L=163.99'

T=721.04'

C=99.76'

ITB=N31°39'15"W

ITB=N21°35'45"E

ITB=S45°33'16"E

ITB=S28°54'42"E

6

7

8

.

4

5

'

 

(

P

)

1

6

4

.

4

9

'

 

(

P

)

8
9
.3

3
' (P

)

2

4

3

.
9

6

'
 
(
P

)

2

3

9

.

6

3

'

 

(

P

)

ITB=S31°39'15"E

BLOCK 2

FAWN VALLEY SOUTH

Project No. Date:

15700 College Blvd. Suite 202 Lenexa, KS 66219
Ph: (913) 888-4647    Fax: (913) 390-9865

Civil Engineering       Land Surveying
McAFEE HENDERSON SOLUTIONS, INC.

www.mhs-eng.com

2019.060.006 12/16/2020

Final Plat of

FAWN VALLEY  SOUTH, 2ND PLAT

A  Replat of Block 10 and portions of Blocks 7, 8, and 9, Fawn Subdivision

in the City of Lansing, Leavenworth County, Kansas

OWNER / DEVELOPER:

PROJECT

LOCATION

VICINITY MAP

1

2

3

4

5

POINT OF BEGINNING

SYMBOL LEGEND

DEDICATION:

Fawn Valley South, 2nd Plat

OWNER'S CERTIFICATE:

NOTARY CERTIFICATE:

PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL:

CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL:

CITY ENGINEER APPROVAL:

COUNTY SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE:

REGISTER OF DEEDS CERTIFICATE:

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE:

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

LS-1614

ZONING:

NOTES:

REFERENCES:



Page 1 of 3 

Planning Commission Staff Report 
January 20, 2021 

Subdivision Case SDFP-2021-3 
00000 Reagan Drive / 00000 1st Terrace 

Project Facts 

Applicant 
Greenamyre Rentals Inc. 

Address 
00000 Reagan Drive / 00000 1st 
Ter. 

Property ID 
099-30-0-20-07-088.00-0
099-30-0-00-00-009.00-0
099-30-0-00-00-010.00-0

Zoning 
R-3 Mixed-Density
Neighborhood District

Future Land Use 
Medium Density 

Land 
362,534.26 SF (8.32 acres) 

Requested Approvals 
Final Plat 

Summary 
Greenamyre Rentals Inc., owner of property at 00000 Reagan Drive and 00000 1st Terrace, have applied to Plat Fawn 
Valley South, 2nd Plat, which will replat Block 10 and portions of Blocks 7, 8, and 9, Fawn Subdivision. This final plat, if 
approved, will allow the property owners to subdivide this area. The intention is to add four developable lots to the end 
of Reagan Drive to add additional duplexes and finish out the development of this cul-de-sac. Upon development of the 
remaining property shown on the plat (Lot 5), an additional plat may be required depending on the type of project 
presented. 



Subdivision Case SDFP-2021-3 – 00000 Reagan Drive / 00000 1st Terrace 
City of Lansing, Kansas  

Planning Commission 1/20/2021 
 

Page 2 of 3 

Discussion points from Checklist 
 
The checklist was reviewed and completed by the Director of Community & Economic Development. Items marked no are 
discussed below: 
 
 Building setback lines are shown on Lots 1-4. Lot 5 has none shown, and they will need to be added to this lot 

before the plat is filed with the Register of Deeds.  
 The name of the registered land surveyor preparing the plat is shown on the submitted document but is not signed 

nor sealed. This will be completed prior to filing of the document, subject to the approval of the Planning 
Commission and City Council. 

 Certificates signed by the City Clerk and County Treasurer that all taxes and special assessments due and payable 
have been paid will be collected before the plat is filed with the Register of Deeds. 

 

Community & Economic Development / Public Works / Wastewater / City Engineer Comments 
 
Comments on this final plat from the preliminary plat process have been addressed. Additional comments redlined on 
the plat have been identified and can be addressed before the plat is signed by the Chairman of the Planning 
Commission either before or after approval by the City Council. 
 
Final plats are a refined version of the preliminary plat that presents proposed ownership and development patterns, as 
well as the specific location of public facilities and public property based on detailed designs. After approval of the 
preliminary plat, the applicant may submit a final plat for all or portions of the preliminary plat area for consideration at 
the next scheduled Planning Commission meeting. A final plat must be reviewed by staff and brought before the Planning 
Commission for approval, approval with conditions, or denial. 
 
Community & Economic Development Review (from Article 2.02-E of the UDO): 
 
 The layout and design of the final plat is in substantial compliance with the approved preliminary plat considering 

the number of lots or parcels; the block layout, street designs and access; the open space systems and civic design 
elements; the infrastructure systems; or other elements of coordinated developments. 

o The final plat is in compliance with the approved preliminary plat.  
 The construction plans for any utilities, infrastructure or public facilities meet all technical specifications. 

o Construction plans related to any utilities, infrastructure, or public facilities will be reviewed before 
construction of any of these items begins, if needed. 

 The phasing and timing of public improvements ensures construction and performance guarantees. 
o No construction plans or phasing plans were provided at this time, as no construction of public 

improvements is planned. 
 Any deviations in the final plat from the preliminary plat brings the application in further compliance with the 

Comprehensive Plan and the purposes and intent of this Code. 
o There does not appear to be any deviations from the preliminary plat. 

 The recommendations of professional staff, or any other public entity asked to officially review the plat. 
o Based on substantial compliance with the approved preliminary plat, and subject to the review of any 

technical drawings or legal review, Staff from Community & Economic Development find this proposed 
final plat acceptable, subject to revisions noted in this report. 

 
Public Works: 
 

o When Lot 5 is developed in the future, utility easements will need to be considered around the edges of 
this lot to provide access for utilities. 

 



Subdivision Case SDFP-2021-3 – 00000 Reagan Drive / 00000 1st Terrace 
City of Lansing, Kansas  

Planning Commission 1/20/2021 
 

Page 3 of 3 

Wastewater: 
 
 No comments 

 

Acknowledgments 
 
The following City of Lansing staff members reviewed this project and provided information for this report: 
 

• Matthew R. Schmitz, MPA – Director, Community & Economic Development 
• Michael Spickelmier, P.E. – Director, Public Works 
• Anthony Zell, MBA – Director, Wastewater 

 

Notice of City Codes 
 
The Applicant is subject to all applicable City codes within the Municipal Code – whether specifically stated in this report 
or not – including, but not limited to, Zoning, Buildings and Construction, Subdivisions, and Sign Code. The Applicant is 
also subject to all applicable Federal, State, and local laws. 
 

Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve the Final Plat and recommend to the City Council approval of 
this final plat, with the condition of modification of the plat to rectify the items outlined herein. 



CHECKLIST FOR COMPLETENESS 

OF 

APPLICATION FOR PLANNING COMMISSION 

REVIEW AND APPROVAL 

OF 

FINAL PLAT 

FOR 

FAWN VALLEY SOUTH 
(Name of Subdivision) 

Matthew R. Schmitz  1-14-2021
 Person Completing Checklist   Date 

COMPLETION OF THIS CHECKLIST IN NO WAY CONSTITUTES AN 
EVALUATION OF THE MERITS OR ACCURACY OF THE PLANS, 
DESIGN OR ENGINEERING OF THE FINAL PLAT.  THIS STEP IS 
INTENDED ONLY AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW OF THE 
COMPLETENESS OF THE APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL BEFORE IT 
UNDERGOES STAFF EXAMINATION BY THE CITY ENGINEER FOR 
HIS RECOMMENDATION TO THE PLANNING COMMISSION. 



FINAL PLAT CHECKLIST 
YES NO N/A 

 
1. Preliminary Plat has been approved.        
 
2. Applicant agrees to submit an original with all final revisions 
 in both paper and electronic format to the Community and 
 Economic Development Department        
 
3. Material is submitted at least fourteen (14) days prior to Planning  

Commission meeting at which it is desired to be considered.     
 
4. Original copy contains names and locations for duly acknowledged 
 and notarized signatures of the owner(s) of the property.     
 
5. Final Plat is drawn at scale of at least 1" = 200'       
 
6. Size of sheet on which final plat is prepared is at least 36 inches  

by 24 inches.  If more than one sheet required, all are same size  
and index map is provided.          

 
7. FINAL PLAT CONTAINS: 
 

A. Name of Subdivision         
 

B. Location, including section, township, range, county 
and state           

 
C. Location and description of existing monuments or  

benchmarks.           
 

D. Location of lots and blocks with dimensions in feet  
and decimals of feet          

 
E. Location of alley, street and highway rights-of-way,  

parks and other features including radii on curves with  
dimensions in feet and decimals of feet.       

 
F. Clear numbering for all lots.        

 
G. Clear numbering or lettering.        
 
H. Locations, widths and names of all streets and alleys  

to be dedicated. (If applicable)        
 

I. Boundaries and descriptions of any areas other than streets  
to be dedicated or reserved for public use. (If applicable)    

 
J. Minimum area and associated minimum elevation for the  

building on each lot (building site).  (If requested by  
Planning Commission)         



Final Plat Checklist 
Page 2              YES NO N/A 
 

K. Building setback lines along all streets, with dimensions   
 

L. Name, signature, seal of licensed engineer or registered 
land surveyor preparing plat.       

 
  M. Scale of plat, (shown graphically) date of prep and  

north point.          
 
N. Statement dedicating all easements, streets, alleys and all  

other public areas not previously dedicated.     
 
8. A copy of any restrictive covenants applicable to the subdivision  

is provided.  (If applicable)         
 
9. Required certifications/acknowledgements are present: 
 

A. Certificate signed and acknowledged by all parties having 
any record, title or interest in the land subdivided, and  
consenting to the preparation and recording of said sub- 
division map.          

 
B. Certificate (as above) dedicating or reserving all parcels of 

land shown on the final plat and intended for any public or 
private use including easements, and those parcels which are  
intended for the exclusive use of the lot owners of the sub- 
division, their licensees, visitors, tenants and servants.   

 
C. Certificate of responsibility by registered land surveyor 

preparing final map, accompanied by seal.     
 

D. Certificate(s) signed by City Clerk and County Treasurer  
that all taxes and special assessments due and payable have 
been paid.          

 
E. Notary acknowledgement in form shown in Subdivision 

Regulation (Pg. 10).         
 

F. Endorsement by Planning Commission in form shown in 
Subdivision Regulations (Pg. 10).       

 
G. Public use acceptance by Governing Body in form shown 

in Subdivision Regulation (Pg. 10, 11).      



Lansing Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting 
January 20th, 2021 

Page 4 of 5 

fact that Gilman Rd. is a collector road and one wouldn’t want to have driveway access off a 
collector road. Mr. Russell further stated the idea would be if Gilman were to be developed in 
the future, there might be consideration for Lots 2 and 3 to front Gilman Rd and potentially 
house residential homes. Mr. Russell stated the current intent is not to have them developed 
but to re plat them as part of the Rock Creek development that is to the South. Mr. Russell 
would like to see some flexibility in today’s thoughts towards the future. Commissioner Gies 
stated he does not feel the Chadwell’s should have any say in the future access of this property 
because they will no longer be owners of the property. Mr. Russell stated he agrees with Mr. 
Gies’ statement today, however if the re plat never occurs with Rock Creek to the South, then 
you face the potential of having two buildable lots that would be taxable entities on home sites. 
Commissioner Gies answered if that happens, then the future homeowners at that time can 
address their concerns with the City then. Mr. Russell agreed and stated it is nothing of a 
concern in the present moment. 

Mary Chadwell, property owner, stated she agreed also with Commissioner Gies. Public Works 
Director Michael Spickelmier also added that the intent is to never have rear access to any 
residential lot, especially off a collector street. Mr. Russell agreed. Ms. Chadwell said at this time 
there is no need for access off Gilman Rd for those 2 lots and made note that Lot 2 could be 
accessed from Rock Creek Estates from Canyon Lane and Mr. Schmitz confirmed.  

Vice-Chairman Jake Kowalewski asked for a motion to approve, approve with conditions, or 
disapprove the Final Plat application for Lyle and Mary Chadwell Trust. Commissioner Nancy 
McDougal made a motion to approve with conditions that the access issues as outlined in the 
staff report be addressed seconded by Commissioner Amy Baker. The motion passes 5-0. 

4. Final Plat Application Case # SDFP-2021-3: 00000 Reagan Drive, Lansing, Kansas
Application submitted by Greenamyre Rentals Inc, property owners. This application is for a
final plat consisting of 5 lots and approximately 10.81 acres. The property is currently zoned R-
3 Mixed-Density Neighborhood.

Commissioner Gies asked Mr. Schmitz if the sub street North of Lot 4 would go away and Mr.
Schmitz answered that in the preliminary plat that area was not shown as right-of-way but was
corrected in the final plat to show right-of-way and there is no intention of building anything for
public improvement today, it is just to establish right-of-way for the future. Commissioner Gies
asked if there would have to be a front yard setback (25’) as opposed to 12’ as listed on the
North side of Lot 4 and Mr. Schmitz agreed since it is a corner lot. Mr. Schmitz added that
whatever may develop would need to face Reagan Drive. Jeremy Greenamyre representing
Greenamyre Rentals, 2500 S. 2nd Street in Leavenworth, Kansas stated that Lot 4’s intention
would be uniform to the rest of the cul-de-sac.

Vice-Chairman Kowalewski asked for a motion to approve, approve with conditions, or
disapprove the Final Plat application for Greenamyre Rentals, Inc. Commissioner Gies made a
motion to recommend approval to City Council with modification as outlined for Lot 4 seconded
by Chairman Barry. The motion passes 5-0.



Lansing Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting 
January 20th, 2021 
 

Page 5 of 5 

Notices and Communications- None 
 
Reports - Commission and Staff Members – Mr. Schmitz noted that there was a motion for 
the City Council to appoint Michael Spickelmier as City Engineer in the next City Council 
meeting.  
  
Adjournment- Commissioner Nancy McDougal made a motion to adjourn. Commissioner Amy 
Baker seconded it and it passed by acclamation. The meeting adjourned at 7:47 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
Debra Warner, Secretary 
 
 
Reviewed by,  
 
 
Matthew R. Schmitz, Community and Economic Development Director 
 
 
















	Saddle Ridge Agenda Item1.pdf
	Saddle Ridge Final Plat 1-28-2021.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Sheet 1 - 24x36



	FawnValleySouth Agenda Item.pdf
	19-060-006_Final Plat.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1



	02-04-2021 Agenda Cover.pdf
	COUNCIL AGENDA
	Regular Meeting
	       Thursday, February 4, 2021
	7:00 P.M.

	  CITY OF LANSING
	  Council Chambers
	  800 1st Terrace

	 In order to adhere to social distancing and limiting large gatherings of people to mitigate the spread of COVID-19, the Lansing City Meeting will not be open to the public.  In accordance with Kansas Open Meetings Act (KOMA), the meeting can be view...
	Call To Order
	Pledge of Allegiance
	Roll Call
	OLD BUSINESS:
	NEW BUSINESS:
	Audience Participation
	Council Consideration of Agenda Items:
	2. Ordinance No. 1054 – Rezone Request 00000 Centre Drive
	3. Final Plat - Saddle Ridge
	4. Final Plat - Ryan Family Farms
	5. Final Plat - Fawn Valley South, 2nd Plat
	6. 2021 Independence Days Event
	7. 2021 Bernard BBQ Battle Event
	8. Approval of Quote - Belt Filter Press Rehabilitation Project
	Reports:
	Proclamations
	Other Items of Interest
	Adjournment





